IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE

WESTERN DISTRICT OF OKLAHOMA

MARVIN ARMSTRONG, BILLY 

)
CARROLL, ANGELA FILIPPINI, 

)

ADMINSTRATRIX OF THE ESTATE
)

OF VINCENT FILIPPINI, ELLIS

)

HOPPER, DORIS MARSH, HARVEY
)

MELTON, CURTIS VAUGHN, and
)

RODNEY WADE, on their own behalf
)

and on behalf of all others similarly
)

situated and the class they seek to
)

represent,




)



)

Plaintiffs,
) 
Case No. ____________________


)

v.





)







)

DONALD E. POWELL, CHAIRMAN
)

OF THE FEDERAL DEPOSIT

)

INSURANCE CORPORATION, and
)

THE FEDERAL DEPOSIT INSURANCE
)

CORPORATION,



)







)

Defendants.

)

ORIGINAL COMPLAINT (CLASS ACTION)
1. Plaintiffs Marvin Armstrong, Billy Carroll, Angela Filippini, administratrix of the Estate of Vincent Filippini, Ellis Hopper, Doris Marsh, Harvey Melton, Curtis Vaughn, and Rodney Wade, on their own behalf and on behalf all others similarly situated and the class they seek to represent, (the “Plaintiffs”) file their Original Complaint (Class Action) to remedy and redress the defendants’ continuing willful violation of the Age Discrimination in Employment Act, from September 1995 to the present, through an organization-wide policy, pattern, and practice of age discrimination against employees over 40 years old.
I.  SUMMARY OF THE CLASS-ACTION ALLEGATIONS

2. This class action arises out of an express policy covertly implemented by the Board of Directors of defendant Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) in the fall of 1995 to illegally discriminate against employees over 40 years old.  The Board’s unlawful purpose was to transform the FDIC into a “younger organization” by forcing out employees over age 40 through a variety of pretextual means uniformly used in FDIC offices throughout the United States during the FDIC’s downsizing, which started in 1995 and continues to the present.  The FDIC designed and implemented these pretextual mechanisms to favor younger employees while purging employees over age 40 whom the defendants saw as blocking its youth initiative.  Defendants’ policy of illegal age discrimination became the FDIC’s standard operating procedure in 1995 and has continued through today.  

3. The FDIC formulated its illegal policy at secret meetings of its Board of Directors on September 5, 12, and 26, 1995, and October 16, 1996, among others.  Board members brazenly “discussed the target for elimination as the senior employees.”  And they even huddled over how the courts would view their discriminatory intentions.  

4. In fact, at the FDIC’s September 26, 1995 board meeting – which was tape-recorded and transcribed – the FDIC’s then-Chairman Ricki Helfer described one modus operandi for executing the FDIC’s illegal policy:  

Ricki Helfer (Chairman of the FDIC):  . . . We cannot legally go to people and say you have been here a long time you should leave, that we cannot legally do.  To the extent taking away a benefit that benefits more senior people, more than more junior people has that effect.  The question is how would that be viewed by a court.  (9/26/95 Transcript at 18-19.)

5. To start the execution of the Board’s policy of eradicating the FDIC’s older, senior employees over age 40 (“senior employees”), the defendants constructed a subterfuge of illegal discrimination that covertly took away the benefit of “seniority” which in turn would allow the FDIC to systematically eliminate its senior employees under the guise of an “agency reorganization.”  The defendants also implemented a number of other illegal standard operating procedures that discriminated against employees over age 40 concerning employment, promotions, transfers, and other working conditions.  

6. The FDIC’s Board knew that a genuine agency-wide reduction-in-force (“RIF”) focused on specific job categories would apply to the most junior FDIC employees first.  The reason is that the benefits of seniority protected older employees by allowing them to “bump” younger employees out of the remaining jobs regardless of location.  But losing younger employees was exactly the opposite of what the Board wanted.  Circumvention of seniority rules was the key, so a nationwide RIF was out.  

7. Instead, the FDIC built its illegal subterfuge on the elimination of specific field offices that abolished all employees’ jobs.  Unlike a nationwide RIF, however, the newly jobless employees with the most seniority – typically people over age 40 – had no right to “bump out” more junior employees in other offices.  Rather, the employees in the closed offices were forced to repost for other jobs with the FDIC or quit.  The FDIC used this “reposting” mechanism to complete the first prong of its systematic elimination of senior employees by rehiring only younger jobless employees and terminating the older jobless senior employees over age 40.  By stripping employees over age 40 of the benefit of seniority, the defendants started the machinery needed to illegally remove the employees who blocked the FDIC’s youth initiative.  

8. Over the period from September 1995 to the present, the defendants have devised and executed a standard operating procedure for the systemic pattern and practice of discrimination against its senior employees over age 40 – which violations still continue – that included, among other things:  

a.
regularly eliminating the positions of employees over age 40 in supposed field-office “reorganizations” to force the senior employees to reapply for the same or similar job but then, using a policy of subjective decision-making, rejecting their applications in favor of younger employees; 

b.
regularly eliminating the positions of employees over age 40 in these supposed field office “reorganizations” to force the senior employees to reapply for jobs with lesser responsibilities and lower pay;

c.
regularly eliminating the positions of employees over age 40 by closing these field offices, then allowing the senior employees to reapply for other jobs but not selecting them based on defendants’ policy of subjective decision-making in favor of younger employees;

d.
regularly eliminating the positions of employees over age 40 in these supposed field office “reorganizations” and then forcing them to apply for lower-paying jobs in other parts of the country, but with no guarantee of continued employment;

e.
regularly requiring employees over age 40 to reapply for their own positions but then, using a policy of subjective decision-making, rejecting their applications in favor of younger employees; 

f.
regularly denying promotions to employees over age 40 in favor of younger employees using a policy of subjective decision-making;

g.
regularly demoting employees over age 40 by taking away their supervisory responsibilities in favor of younger employees using a policy of subjective decision-making;

h.
regularly requiring employees over age 40 to transfer to other field offices and terminating those who refused to do so using a policy of subjective decision-making; 

i.
regularly refusing the transfer requests of employees over age 40 using a policy of subjective decision-making;

j.
regularly deterring employees over age 40 from applying for positions with the FDIC through the conduct described above in Paragraphs 8(a)-(i); 

k.
regularly forcing employees over age 40 out of the FDIC through constructive discharges by creating working conditions too difficult for the victims to reasonably withstand through the conduct described in Paragraphs 8(a)-(j); and 

l.
awarding bonuses to supervisors and managers throughout the United States who eliminated employees over age 40, but denying such bonuses to supervisors and managers who failed to do so.  

9. Just as the FDIC’s Board drew it up in September 1995, the defendants’ policy of illegal age discrimination has been so regular, so pervasive, so humiliating, and so unrelenting as to have created a systemically abusive and hostile work environment that sends the message:  “If you are more than 40 years old, the FDIC wants you out.”  

10. The FDIC’s systematic abuse proved fatally effective.  A senior employee whose initials were “D.H.” committed suicide after moving his family from Florida to Atlanta following his transfer by the FDIC, only to lose his job a short time later when the FDIC closed its Atlanta Office.  “D.H.” had become despondent over the FDIC’s repeated rejections of his promotion and transfer requests, the FDIC’s transfer order, uprooting his family, and finally watching helplessly as the FDIC eliminated its Atlanta Office – and “D.H.” along with it.  

11. In short, the defendants have chosen to reshape the FDIC’s workforce through a continuing policy, pattern, and practice of illegal discrimination against its oldest, most loyal employees.  The defendants’ illegal conduct has continued for more than seven years.  It is time that a Federal Court answer the question asked by former FDIC Chairman Ricki Helfer about how a court will view the defendants’ conduct and say:  “The FDIC has broken the law.”  

12. Accordingly, Plaintiffs bring this class action on behalf of themselves and a class of current and former employees of the FDIC throughout the United States victimized by the defendants’ nationwide policy, pattern, and practice of willful discrimination against them because they were over 40 years old with respect to employment, promotions, transfers, demotions, and other terms, conditions, and benefits of employment.  The defendants’ ADEA violations have continued from on or about September 1995 to the present, and cost the Plaintiffs and class members more than $25 million.

II.  THE PARTIES
A.  The Plaintiffs
13. Plaintiff Marvin Armstrong is a citizen of the United States, who resides at 154 Woodlands Drive, Harrah, Oklahoma 73045.  He is a former employee of the FDIC in its Oklahoma City, Oklahoma Field Office.  Plaintiff Armstrong retired from the FDIC on September 30, 2002.  He was born in 1942.  

14. Plaintiff Billy Carroll is a citizen of the United States, who resides at 2411 Creekview, Whitehall, Arkansas 71602.  He is a current employee of the FDIC in its Little Rock, Arkansas Office.  Plaintiff Carroll was born in 1943.  

15. Angela Filippini, administratrix of the Estate of Vincent Filippini, resides at 9784 Malvern Drive, Tamarac, Florida 33321.  Vincent Filippini was an employee of the FDIC in its Division of Supervision and Consumer Protection in Washington, D.C., when he died in December 2001.  He was born in 1936.  

16. Plaintiff Ellis Hopper is a citizen of the United States, who resides at 8455 Middleton Circle, Harrisburg, North Carolina 28075.  He is a former employee of the FDIC in its Charlotte, North Carolina Field Office.  Plaintiff Hopper retired from the FDIC on September 30, 2002.  He was born in 1948.  

17. Plaintiff Doris Marsh is a citizen of the United States, who resides at 10419 Mt. Sunapee Road, Vienna, Virginia 22182.  She is a former employee of the FDIC in its Division of Supervision and Consumer Protection in Washington, D.C.  Plaintiff Marsh retired from the FDIC on September 27, 2002.  She was born in 1942.  

18. Plaintiff Harvey Melton is a citizen of the United States, who resides at 6205 Timberlake Drive, Pine Bluff, Arkansas 71603.  He is a current employee of the FDIC in its Little Rock, Arkansas Field Office.  Plaintiff Melton was born in 1949.  

19. Plaintiff Curtis Vaughn is a citizen of the United States, who resides at 3300 Bywater Court, Herndon, Virginia 20171.  He is a current employee of the FDIC in its Division of Supervision and Consumer Protection in Washington, D.C.  Plaintiff Vaughn was born in 1949.  

20. Plaintiff Rodney Wade is a citizen of the United States, who resides at 2520 Bordeaux Way, Lutz, Florida 33549.  He is a former employee of the FDIC in its Atlanta, Georgia Southeast Service Center, Legal Division.  The FDIC terminated Plaintiff Wade in August 1997.  He was born in 1946.  

B.  The Defendants

21. Defendant Donald E. Powell, in his official capacity as Chairman of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, has his principal office at 550 17th Street, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20429.  

22. Defendant the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation is a Government corporation established by federal law, Title 12, United States Code, Section 1811, headquartered in Washington, D.C., but with Regional and Field Offices throughout the United States.  Pursuant to Title 12, United States Code, Section 1819(a), defendant FDIC is empowered “[t]o sue and be sued, and complain and defend, by and through its own attorneys, in any court of law or equity, State or Federal.”  Defendant FDIC is an “Executive agency” for purposes of Title 5, United States Code, Section 105.  

III.  SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION

23. The Court has original subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331 because this action arises under the laws of the United States, specifically, the Age Discrimination in Employment Act (“ADEA”), Title 29, United States Code, Section 633a.  

IV.  VENUE

24. Venue for this action is proper in the Western District of Oklahoma, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(e), because Plaintiff Marvin Armstrong resides in such judicial district and no real property is involved in this action, and a substantial part of the events and omissions giving rise to his claims occurred in such judicial district.  All other Plaintiffs properly join in this action because they assert a right to relief jointly, severally, and in respect of and arising out of the same series of transactions and occurrences as Plaintiff Armstrong and questions of law and fact common to all the Plaintiffs will arise in this action.  

V.  CLASS-ACTION ALLEGATIONS
A.  The Plaintiff Class
25. Plaintiffs bring this action as a class action pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(1), (b)(2) and (b)(3), on their own behalf and on behalf of all other persons similarly situated for injunctive and declaratory relief, including back pay, front pay, prejudgment interest, lost benefits, and reinstatement as appropriate, by reason of the defendants’ nationwide policy, pattern, and practice of continuing ADEA violations over the past seven-plus years.  Pursuant to the exclusion in Title 29, United States Code, Section 633a(f) for ADEA claims arising out of federal government employment, the “opt-in” class-action requirements of Title 29, United States Code, Section 216(b) do not apply in this case.  

26. The class that Plaintiffs seek to represent includes all current and former employees of the FDIC throughout the United States victimized by the defendants’ nationwide policy, pattern, and practice of discrimination against them because they were over 40 years old with respect to employment, promotions, transfers, demotions, and other terms, conditions, and benefits of employment, which violations have continued from on or about September 1995 to the present.

27. The class is so numerous that joinder of all members is impracticable.  The actual number of class members is known only to the defendants, but on information and belief Plaintiffs allege that the class is composed of more than 150 current and former FDIC employees throughout the United States and its territories.  

28. There are questions of law and fact common to the class including, among others:  (a) whether the class members belong to a protected group under the ADEA; (b) whether the FDIC formulated and implemented a policy, pattern, or practice to discriminate against the class because of their age; (c) whether the FDIC engaged in a systemic pattern or practice of conduct with respect to employment, promotions, transfers, demotions, and other terms, conditions, and benefits of employment with regard to the class members; (d) whether the FDIC’s policy, pattern, or practice of such conduct was discriminatory in intent or impact with regard to the class members; (e) whether the FDIC’s policy, pattern, or practice of such conduct with regard to the class members violated the ADEA; (f) whether the victim class members are entitled to injunctive and declaratory relief, including equitable relief in the form of back pay and front pay, lost benefits, and reinstatement as appropriate.  

29. The claims of Plaintiffs are typical of the claims of the class.  The FDIC has discriminated against all the named Plaintiffs and the class on the basis of age through a nationwide policy, pattern, and practice of illegal conduct.  Therefore, Plaintiffs’ claims stem from the same policies, practices, and course of conduct that form the basis of the class claims and are based on the same remedial theory.  

30. Plaintiffs will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the class.  All plaintiffs are, or represent, former or current employees who desire to obtain class-wide relief in order to remedy and redress the FDIC’s past and continuing illegal behavior and to protect current and future class members.  Plaintiffs are familiar with the underlying allegations, understand their obligations as class representatives, and seek to vindicate interests identical to those of the class.  Plaintiffs are not involved in a collusive suit with the defendants.  Nor are Plaintiffs’ interests antagonistic to those of the class.  

31. This action may properly be maintained as a class action pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(1).  The prosecution of separate actions by individual members of the class would create a risk of (a) inconsistent or varying adjudications that would establish incompatible standards of conduct for the FDIC in its treatment of employees over age 40, and (b) adjudications that would as a practical matter substantially impair or impede the class members’ ability to protect their interests against the FDIC’s continuing illegal practices.  

32. This action may properly be maintained as a class action pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(2).  The FDIC has acted on grounds generally applicable to the class, thereby making appropriate final injunctive relief and corresponding declaratory relief with respect to the class as a whole, including an easily calculated class-wide award of back pay and front pay, prejudgment interest, and lost benefits.  

33. This action may properly be maintained as a class action pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(3).  The questions of law and fact common to the class members predominate over any questions affecting only individual members.  This action involves charges of a FDIC-wide standard operating procedure of illegal conduct based on age.  Another issue is whether the FDIC formulated and implemented a nationwide policy to discriminate in violation of the ADEA.  These claims do not require proof of such individualized issues as, for example, whether a particular class member for whom relief is sought was a victim of the defendants’ discriminatory policy or whether the highly particularized defenses that the defendants may assert against a specific class member are convincing.  Both of those issues arise only during the remedial phase of a pattern-and-practice class action, not the certification and liability phases.  A class action is superior to other available methods for the fair and efficient adjudication of this controversy because of:  (a) the inherent “class-wide” nature of the relief sought; (b) the desirability of concentrating the litigation arising out of the FDIC’s illegal conduct in one forum which will preserve scarce judicial resources; (c) the fact that individual class members still employed by the FDIC may suffer retaliation if individual actions are initiated; (d) the logistical issues presented by a class action should not overburden the parties or the Court in this action because of the straight-forward nature of the claims, the relief requested, and the easily identifiable nature of the class members themselves and their current locations.

B.  Background

1.

The FDIC Needs to Downsize After its

Merger with the Resolution Trust Corporation

34. By late 1995 on the eve of their merger, the FDIC and the Resolution Trust Corporation had approximately 8,700 permanent employees.  

35. Following their merger on December 31, 1995, the FDIC set out to downsize its workforce to account for industry consolidation and a decline in resolutions and asset liquidation workload, as the banking industry had recovered from the crisis of the late 1980’s and early 1990’s.  

36. In the seven-plus years since the FDIC/RTC transition in mid-1995, FDIC permanent staffing has gone from approximately 8,700 to 5,481 through the 3rd quarter of 2002.  

2.

The FDIC Falsely Promises to Protect

Permanent Employees in the Downsizing Process

37. During the summer of 1995, in conjunction with planning for the return of RTC’s permanent personnel and residual work, the FDIC undertook an initial analysis of its workload and staffing in order to identify current and projected future staffing imbalances.  

38. From the start of the downsizing process, there purported to be a general policy in place to give preference to permanent employees.  At some point early in the downsizing process, a policy was established that temporary or term employees would not be moved into permanent positions without the written authorization of Dennis F. Geer, the Deputy to the FDIC’s Chairman of the Board, member of the FDIC’s board of directors, and the FDIC’s Chief Operating Officer (“FDIC-COO”).  

39. This policy was allegedly – although not in fact – altered as explained in a memorandum from Dennis Geer, FDIC-COO, to all divisions and office directors, dated February 27, 1996.  Geer’s memorandum purported to authorize division and office directors to make selections for vacant positions within their organizations without higher-level approval, so long as those selections were consistent with their authorized staffing levels and the estimated long-term base (or “core”) staffing requirements that had been identified for the organization during the initial “core staffing” analysis process in 1995.  

40. In March 1996, the FDIC and National Treasury Employees Union (“NTEU”) entered into a memorandum of understanding (“MOU”).  The MOU required that divisions/offices obtain the advance written approval of Dennis Geer, FDIC-COO, before selecting “an applicant not presently employed on a permanent appointment by the FDIC” if a “reassignment eligible” had been referred to the selecting official.  A “reassignment eligible” was defined in the MOU as an FDIC employee holding a permanent appointment who was applying for reassignment to a vacancy at his/her permanent grade or at a lower grade level.  The MOU did not, however, provide FDIC permanent employees with any preference over other applicants when they were applying for promotion opportunities at grade levels higher than their permanent grades.  

41. On or about May 21, 1996, Dennis Geer, FDIC-COO, sent out a memo stating that the selection of a temporary or term employee over a permanent employee once again required the written approval of Geer.  The memo stated in pertinent part:

I also want to clarify my February 27, 1996 memorandum on “selections for permanent and term/temporary vacancies.”  That memorandum authorized division and office directors to approve selections for vacant positions within their organizations, consistent with their approved core staffing and year-end 1996 staffing levels, but was not intended to delegate authority to approve outside hires.  The selection of any individual not currently employed by the FDIC for a permanent position must continue to be submitted to me for approval prior to an employment offer being made.  Such requests should be submitted through the Personnel Services Branch (PSB), DOA and must specifically address the availability of qualified FDIC applicants for the position.  

42. FDIC memorandums, dated October 29, 1996 and May 23, 1997, further provided that permanent, displaced employees were to receive priority for placement into vacant positions over term or temporary employees.  

43. In truth and in fact, as the defendants well knew, the purported protections for permanent employees set forth in the memorandums by Dennis Geer, FDIC-COO, were false and fraudulent insofar as FDIC employees over 40 years old were concerned.  Just the opposite was true.  The FDIC wanted no one over age 40 because these older employees were blocking the FDIC from getting younger.  The only question for the defendants was how to implement that policy.  

C.  The FDIC’s Nationwide Policy to Violate the ADEA
1.

The FDIC’s Board of Directors

Secretly Singles Out Employees Over

Age 40 as Targets for Systematic Elimination

44. Starting in September 1995, the FDIC’s Board of Directors had a series of secret meetings to discuss downsizing the FDIC and reshaping it for the future.  The attendees included Ricki Helfer (Chairman of the FDIC), Jonathan Fiechter (Acting Director, Office of Thrift Supervision), Dennis Geer (Deputy to the Chairman and Chief Operating Officer), William Longbrake (Deputy to the Chairman and Chief Financial Officer), Eugene Ludwig (Comptroller of the Currency), and Alfred Squerrinni (Director - Personnel Management).  

45. At these meetings, the Board framed its secret policy of driving its employees over 40 years old out of the agency, while recognizing that a nationwide RIF could not be the means for accomplishing the purge.  The FDIC board members said:

Dennis Geer (Deputy to the Chairman and Chief Operating Officer):  [Describing what happens in a RIF]  What you have is the junior graded [] individuals, those with the least amount of experience and in most cases, are those you’d like to retain, are the one who get RIFFED.  (9/05/95 Transcript at 16.)

*     *     *

William Longbrake (Deputy to the Chairman and Chief Financial Officer):  I remember from Dennis’s comments [Dennis Geer, FDIC-COO] that our particular problem here is concentrated in the upper levels, the more senior people, the ones with the longer years of service.  (9/05/95 Transcript at 27 [emphasis added].)

*     *     *

Alfred Squerrinni (Director - Personnel Management):  50% [severance option] was to create a greater incentive – particularly when you look at the . . . age of the employees you are trying to target.  (9/05/95 Transcript at 34 [emphasis added].)

*     *     *

Ricki Helfer (Chairman of the FDIC):  . . . [O]ver the last . . . five to seven years, [the FDIC] . . . hired people . . . very high in their class who had done very well.  Those are unfortunately the bright examiners we really want to keep.  (9/05/95 Transcript at 39-40.)

*     *     *

Eugene Ludwig (Comptroller of the Currency):  [W]hat’s going to happen is that the folks that have the greatest seniority will not have to leave, they will bump down the line. . . .  – so the cost to do a reduction in force may actually end up being less out of pocket, but not necessarily getting rid of the right people.  (9/05/95 Transcript at 45-46 [emphasis added].)

Ricki Helfer (Chairman of the FDIC):  -- the recital (sic) costs are higher -- . . . because you have the wrong people going. . . .So you end up having somebody that’s been a manager for ten years going back into a job that he or she – in this case it’ll be “he,” excuse me but it will be -- he hasn’t done for 10 years and you lose.  The other huge problem is you lose the diversity in your workforce because the diversity gains have been made in the last 5 to 6, 7 years.  They will be the first people out the door and that means all of the diversity, basically women and minorities of all types, it’s – it’s a very serious -- (9/05/95 Transcript at 45-46 [emphasis added].)

*     *     *

Ricki Helfer (Chairman of the FDIC):  [We] have to RIF these people from severance perspectives.  But it does have the extra benefit of providing the benefits to those [who] are retirement eligible, even though that would not be true in a RIF.  Because those are the people, to be frank, we really need to get out the door.  We have too many executives.  We have too many staffs.  (9/05/95 Transcript at 61 [emphasis added].)

*     *     *

Dennis Geer (Deputy to the Chairman and Chief Operating Officer):  [Discussing retirement-eligible employees]  and you are not going to get them in a RIF.  You just won’t get them in a RIF.  (9/05/95 Transcript at 71.)

Ricki Helfer (Chairman of the FDIC):  They will never be out the door.  (9/05/95 Transcript at 71.)

[Unidentified Board Member]:  Essentially 3a doesn’t help us on the category that we must need to reduce and that’s the more senior people.  (9/05/95 Transcript at 71 [emphasis added].)

*     *     *

Ricki Helfer (Chairman of the FDIC):  . . . talk to the consultant about [health insurance benefits in terms of acceptance rates recognizing that we’re targeting in particular the more senior employees. . . .  [I]f you think about the target that is the senior employees and you realize that the severance option which would apply to retirement eligible under 3b . . . .  In a way is not necessarily much of an additional incentive . . . because the senior people won’t worry about a RIF.  They are never going to be RIFFED.  They can stay here for the next 20 years and they won’t be RIFFED.  (9/12/95 Transcript at 43-45 [emphasis added].)

*     *     *

Jonathan Fiechter (Acting Director, Office of Thrift Supervision):  Much of what we are talking about is in a sense directed at encouraging the more senior executives who pretty much by definition are, have the longer careers here, are older when we’re trying to incent those folks to leave and I hope that’s not illegal.  (9/26/95 Transcript at 18-19.)

Ricki Helfer (Chairman of the FDIC):  . . . We cannot legally go to people and say you have been here a long time, you should leave, that we cannot legally do.  To the extent taking away benefit that benefits more senior people, more than more junior people has that effect, the question is how would that be viewed by a court.  (9/26/95 Transcript at 18-19.)  

*     *     *

Dennis Geer (Deputy to the Chairman and Chief Operating Officer):  The people that are being targeted for this reduction in force are the people that assisted us most during the crisis years, worked very hard.  We are talking about employees that have moved ten (10) or thirteen (13) times, moved all over the country, whatever the corporation asked them to do and did that very honorably and with distinction.  (10/16/96 Transcript at 19.)

46. Each of the meetings identified above in Paragraph 45 has been tape-recorded and transcribed.

2.

The FDIC Institutes a Standard Operating

Procedure For Driving Out its Senior Employees:

A Continuing Pattern and Practice of Age Discrimination

47. Since taking its cue from the Board of Directors, the FDIC has carried out a ruthless program of discrimination to eliminate its senior employees over 40 years old (“senior employees”).  Since September 1995, the defendants’ have made illegal age discrimination an official policy to be covertly executed on Plaintiffs and the putative class members.  

48. In fact, since on or about September 1995, a standing joke developed among senior employees at the FDIC that went:  “Don’t waste your time applying for promotions – those jobs are reserved for people under age 40.”  

49. Since on or about September 1995 to the present, the FDIC has made the following conduct its standard operating procedure on a nationwide basis to purge the FDIC of employees over age 40 by circumventing federal seniority protections: 

a.
regularly eliminating the positions of employees over age 40 in supposed field-office “reorganizations” to force the senior employees to reapply for the same or similar job but then rejecting their applications in favor of younger employees; 

b.
regularly eliminating the positions of employees over age 40 in these supposed field office “reorganizations” to force the senior employees to reapply for jobs with lesser responsibilities and lower pay;

c.
regularly eliminating the positions of employees over age 40 by closing a field office, then allowing the senior employees to reapply for other jobs but never selecting them;

d.
regularly eliminating the positions of employees over age 40 in these supposed field office “reorganizations” and then forcing them to apply for lower-paying jobs in other parts of the country, but with no guarantee of continued employment;

e.
regularly denying promotions to employees over age 40 in favor of younger employees;

f.
regularly demoting employees over age 40 by taking away their supervisory responsibilities in favor of younger employees;

g.
regularly requiring employees over age 40 to transfer to other field offices and terminating those who refused to do so; 

h.
regularly refusing the transfer requests of employees over age 40;

i.
regularly deterring applicants and employees over age 40 from applying for positions with the FDIC through the conduct described above in Paragraphs 49(a)-(h); 

j.
regularly forcing employees over age 40 to leave the FDIC through constructive discharges by creating working conditions too difficult for the victims to reasonably withstand through the conduct described in Paragraphs 47(a)-(i); and 

k.
awarding bonuses to supervisors and managers who eliminated employees over age 40, but denying such bonuses to supervisors and managers who failed to do so.  

50. The defendants’ secret, continuing policy of willful age discrimination against its senior employees has shown itself in the pattern and practices regularly used nationwide when making employment decisions involving employees over age 40.  As a result of the defendants’ standard operating procedure, the FDIC has successfully created a systemically abusive and hostile work environment that says quite clearly:  “If you are more than 40 years old, the FDIC wants you out.”  

3.

The FDIC’s Illegal Discrimination

Against the Plaintiffs Named in the Complaint
a.  Marvin Armstrong

51. Plaintiff Marvin Armstrong is a former employee of the FDIC Field Office in Oklahoma City, Oklahoma, who retired from the FDIC on September 30, 2002.  He was born in 1942.  
52. The FDIC hired Plaintiff Armstrong on or about August 1969.  At the time of his retirement, Plaintiff Armstrong was a grade 14 and held the position of Field Office Supervisor, which he had held since 1996.  
53. In or around the spring of 2002, Plaintiff Armstrong learned that the FDIC’s field offices would be reorganized resulting in the elimination of certain Field Office Supervisor jobs.  As a result, in or around the summer of 2002, Plaintiff Armstrong – like other Field Office Supervisors who were senior employees -- had to reapply for his own job, which had been reposted as part of the reorganization.  
54. On or about August 2002, Plaintiff Armstrong learned that he did not receive his prior position and that the FDIC had given the position to a younger, less qualified individual than Plaintiff Armstrong.  Rather than allow himself to be terminated, Plaintiff Armstrong was forced to retire.  
55. In addition, since on or about September 1995, Plaintiff Armstrong has applied for and been deterred from applying for promotions to management-level positions for which he was qualified – and which the FDIC gave to less qualified, younger individuals.  
56. Plaintiff Armstrong notified the EEOC of his intent to file this action within 180 days of the defendants’ most recent unlawful employment action as part of their continuing ADEA violations.  Such notice was given more than 30 days ago.
b.  Billy Carroll

57. Plaintiff Billy Carroll is a current employee of the FDIC Field Office in Little Rock, Arkansas.  He was born in 1943.  
58. The FDIC hired Plaintiff Carroll on or about August 1969.  Plaintiff Carroll is currently a grade CG-13 and holds the position of Field Examiner.  
59. Since on or about September 1995, Plaintiff Carroll has applied for numerous promotions to management-level positions, but the FDIC gave those jobs to less qualified, younger individuals.  
60. Since on or about September 1995, Plaintiff Carroll has witnessed numerous examples of age discrimination at the FDIC with respect to promotions.  Plaintiff Carroll lost confidence in the promotion process at the FDIC.  
61. As a result, since on or about September 1995, Plaintiff Carroll has chosen not to apply for certain promotions in which he was interested and for which he was qualified – and which the FDIC ultimately gave to less qualified, younger employees.  
62. Plaintiff Carroll notified the EEOC of his intent to file this action within 180 days of the defendants’ most recent unlawful employment action as part of their continuing ADEA violations.  Such notice was given more than 30 days ago.  

c.  Estate of Vincent Filippini

63. Vincent Filippini was an employee of the FDIC in its Division of Supervision and Consumer Protection in Washington, D.C., when he died in December 2001.  He was born in 1936.  

64. The FDIC hired Vincent Filippini on or about 1974.  At the time of his death, Vincent Filippini was a grade 14 and held the position of Review Examiner, which he had held since 1997.  
65. Since on or about September 1995, Vincent Filippini applied for 23 different promotions to positions in different parts of the United States.  The FDIC denied all 23 applications and gave each of those jobs to less qualified individuals younger than Vincent Filippini.  
66. On or about August 27, 2001, Vincent Filippini learned that the FDIC had awarded a position for which he had applied to a less qualified, younger employee.  Within 45 days, he timely complained to the FDIC’s EEO officer that the FDIC’s conduct regarding the promotion he sought violated the ADEA.  More than 180 days have passed since Vincent Filippini initiated the administrative process, which resulted in no final decision.  
d.  Ellis Hopper

67. Plaintiff Ellis Hopper is a former employee of the FDIC Field Office in Charlotte, North Carolina, who retired on or about September 30, 2002.  He was born in 1948.  
68. The FDIC hired Plaintiff Hopper on or about January 1974.  At the time of his retirement, Plaintiff Hopper was a grade 14 and held the position of Field Office Supervisor.  
69. In or around the spring of 2002, Plaintiff Hopper learned that his office was being reorganized and that certain Field Office Supervisor positions were being eliminated.  The FDIC told Plaintiff Hopper he would have to repost for his current job – in essence, reapply for his own job.  
70. Plaintiff Hopper in fact reapplied for his old job on or about July 2002.  On or about August 2002, he learned that the FDIC had given a younger, less qualified individual the Field Office Supervisor position that he previously held.  
71. The FDIC told Plaintiff Hopper that, because he had not been awarded his former position, he had the option to apply for other job openings in other parts of the country – most of which had lower grade levels than his former position and would have been demotions.  
72. The FDIC further told Plaintiff Hopper that if he wanted to maintain his current grade level, he could apply for an available position, but he was obligated to take whatever position the FDIC management gave him in whatever part of the country the position was located.  
73. Plaintiff Hopper did not consider the FDIC’s alternative to be a reasonable option.  As a result, Plaintiff Hopper was forced to retire.  
74. In addition, since on or about September 1995, Plaintiff Hopper has applied for and been deterred from applying for promotions to management-level positions for which he was qualified – and which the FDIC gave to less qualified, younger individuals.  
75. Plaintiff Hopper notified the EEOC of his intent to file this action within 180 days of the defendants’ most recent unlawful employment action as part of their continuing ADEA violations.  Such notice was given more than 30 days ago.
e.  Doris Marsh

76. Plaintiff Doris Marsh is a former employee of the FDIC Division of Supervision and Consumer Protection in Washington, D.C.  She was born in 1942.
77. The FDIC hired Plaintiff Marsh on or about November 1978.  At the time of her retirement, on or about September 27, 2002, Plaintiff Marsh was a grade 15 and held the position of Examination Specialist in the Office of Policy and Accounting Section.  
78. Since on or about September 1995, Plaintiff Marsh had applied for numerous promotions to management-level positions.  The FDIC, however, gave those positions to less qualified individuals younger than Plaintiff Marsh.  
79. On or about June 2002, Plaintiff Marsh learned that the FDIC had awarded a position for which she had applied to a less qualified younger employee.  After the FDIC again rejected Plaintiff Marsh for a promotion, she concluded that her future with the FDIC was limited.  Therefore, Plaintiff Marsh retired. 
80. Plaintiff Marsh notified the EEOC of her intent to file this action within 180 days of the defendants’ most recent unlawful employment action as part of their continuing ADEA violations.  Such notice was given more than 30 days ago.
f.  Harvey Melton
81. Plaintiff Harvey Melton is a current employee of the FDIC Field Office in Little Rock, Arkansas.  He was born in 1949.  
82. Plaintiff Melton was hired by the FDIC on or about October 1977.  Plaintiff Melton is currently a grade CG-13 and holds the position of Field Examiner.  
83. Since on or about September 1995, Plaintiff Melton has applied for numerous promotions to management-level positions, but the FDIC gave those jobs to less qualified younger individuals.  
84. Since or about September 1995, Plaintiff Melton has witnessed numerous examples of age discrimination at the FDIC with respect to promotions.  As a result, Plaintiff Melton has lost confidence in the promotion process at the FDIC and chosen not to apply for certain promotions in which he was interested and for which he was qualified – and which were ultimately given to less qualified younger employees.  

85. Plaintiff Melton notified the EEOC of his intent to file this action within 180 days of the defendants’ most recent unlawful employment action as part of their continuing ADEA violations.  Such notice was given more than 30 days ago.
g.  Curtis Vaughn

86. Plaintiff Curtis Vaughn is a current employee of the FDIC Division of Supervision and Consumer Protection in Washington, D.C.  Plaintiff Vaughn was hired by the FDIC in June 14, 1971.  Plaintiff Vaughn is currently a grade 15 and holds the position of Examinations Specialist, which he has held since 1996.  He was born in 1949.  
87. Since on or about September 1995, Plaintiff Vaughn has applied for numerous promotions to management-level positions.  But the FDIC gave those jobs to less qualified younger individuals.  Plaintiff Vaughn, however, was not made aware that a younger, less qualified individual received the most recent promotion for which Plaintiff Vaughn had applied until on or about October 2002.  
88. Plaintiff Vaughn notified the EEOC of his intent to file this action within 180 days of discovering the defendants’ most recent unlawful employment action as part of their continuing ADEA violations.  Such notice was given more than 30 days ago. 

h.  Rodney Wade

89. Plaintiff Rodney Wade is a citizen of the United States, who resides at 2520 Bordeaux Way, Lutz, Florida 33549.  He is a former employee of the FDIC in its Atlanta, Georgia Southeast Service Center, Legal Division.  Plaintiff Wade was forced out of the FDIC on or about August 1997 when it closed its Atlanta Office.  He was born in 1946.  

90. The FDIC hired Plaintiff Wade on or about 1990.  At the time of his retirement, Plaintiff Wade was a grade 14 and held the position of Senior Attorney, which he had held since 1990.  
91. Since on or about September 1995, Plaintiff Wade applied for 50  different promotions to positions in Atlanta, Dallas, Memphis, New York, and Washington, D.C., including three positions in 1997.  With respect to each of those positions, however, the FDIC gave the job to less qualified younger individuals.  
92. Within 45 days of the FDIC’s denial of his last application for promotion, Plaintiff Wade timely complained to the FDIC’s EEO officer that the FDIC’s conduct regarding the promotions he sought violated the ADEA.  More than 180 days have passed since Plaintiff Wade initiated the administrative process, which resulted in no final decision.  
COUNT I

DEFENDANTS’ CONTINUING VIOLATION OF

THE AGE DISCRIMINATION IN EMPLOYMENT ACT
93. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege the allegations contained in Paragraphs 1-92, as if set forth fully herein.  

94. From or on about September 1995 to the present, the defendants have covertly executed the FDIC’s official policy to discriminate against employees over age 40 through the nationwide pattern and practice described above in Paragraphs 1-22 and 34-92, thereby injuring Plaintiffs Marvin Armstrong, Billy Carroll, Angela Filippini, administratrix of the Estate of Vincent Filippini, Ellis Hopper, Doris Marsh, Harvey Melton, Curtis Vaughn, and Rodney Wade, and all others similarly situated, in violation of Title 29, United States Code, Section 633a.  

95. As a direct and proximate result of the defendants continuing violations of the ADEA, as described above in Paragraphs 93-94, Plaintiffs Marvin Armstrong, Billy Carroll, Angela Filippini, administratrix of the Estate of Vincent Filippini, Ellis Hopper, Doris Marsh, Harvey Melton, Curtis Vaughn, and Rodney Wade, and all others similarly situated, have suffered unlawful adverse employment actions with respect to employment, promotions, transfers, demotions, and other terms, conditions, and benefits of employment.  

96. Because of the defendants’ continuing violations of the ADEA, Title 29, United States Code, Section 633(a), the Plaintiffs and all others similarly situated are entitled to all such legal and equitable relief as will effectuate the purposes of the ADEA, including but not limited to:  (a) an award of back pay and front pay, prejudgment interest, and lost benefits in the amount of at least $25 million; (b) injunctive and declaratory relief that forever enjoins defendants’ unlawful conduct and that orders reinstatement as appropriate; and (c) an award of reasonable attorney’s fees, filing fees, plus costs of this suit.

WHEREFORE Plaintiffs, on their own behalf and on behalf of all others similarly situated and the class they seek to represent, demand judgment against the defendants:


a.  Awarding back pay and front pay, prejudgment interest, and lost benefits in the amount of at least $25 million, and reasonable attorneys’ fees, filing fees, and reasonable costs of suit;


b.  Declaring that the defendants’ conduct constituted age discrimination, in violation of Title 29, United States Code, Section 633a;


c.  Ordering that the defendants, and all other persons acting on his behalf or in concert with them, be perpetually enjoined and restrained from conducting, maintaining, renewing, or carrying on the conduct described above in Paragraphs 1-20 and 32-90;

d.  Ordering reinstatement as appropriate; and

e.  Awarding such other and further relief, equitable and legal, as is just and proper.







Respectfully submitted,






By:
__________________________________

George J. McCaffrey

Oklahoma Bar. No. 5851

McCaffrey & Gibson

6301 Waterford Boulevard, Ste. 401

Oklahoma City, OK 73118

405-767-3300 (phone)

405-767-3309 (fax) 

Jack Rosenberg, Esq.

Georgia Bar No. 614475

100 Alabama St., S.W., Suite 150

Atlanta, GA 30303

404-584-6699 (phone)

404-584-0280 (fax)

Alan H. Garber, Esq.

Georgia Bar No. 283840

Marc N. Garber, Esq.

Georgia Bar No. 283847

The Garber Law Firm, P.C.

The Candler Building, Suite 1303

127 Peachtree Street, NE

Atlanta, Georgia 30303-1800

404-523-0296 (phone)

404-523-2978 (fax)
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